IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

UNION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA PATIENTS, INC., Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SAN DIEGO,
Defendant and Respondent.

Court of Appeal of California Fourth District, Division One D068185

Superior Court of California San Diego County 37-2014-00013481-CU-TT-CTL Hon. Joel Wohlfeil

Petition for Review

Jamie T. Hall (SBN # 240183) jamie.hall@channellawgroup.com Julian K. Quattlebaum (SBN # 214378) jq@channellawgroup.com Channel Law Group, LLP 8200 Wilshire Blvd, Ste 300 Beverly Hills, CA 90211 (310) 982-1760

fax: (323) 723-3960

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellant

SUPREME COURT FILE D

NOV 2 3 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clark

Deputy

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

- 1. Is amendment of a zoning ordinance an activity directly undertaken by a public agency that categorically constitutes a "project" under CEQA?
- 2. Is a "the enactment of a law allowing the operation of medical marijuana cooperatives in certain areas of a municipality under certain conditions is the type of activity that may cause a reasonably foreseeable change to the environment," categorically?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents a preliminary dispositive question for a wide swath of litigation under CEQA: is passing or amending a zoning ordinance a "project" under CEQA? To answer this question would provide clarity to governments across California as to when they must perform CEQA analysis and prevent countless suits, demurrers and appeals from reaching the courts. Currently, California governments must decide whether to follow Muzzy Ranch Co., v. Solano Cnty. Airport Land Use Comm'n (2007) 41 Cal.4th 372, 381, Rominger, v. Cnty. of Colusa (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 690, and Rosenthal, v. Bd. of Supervisors (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 815 by conducting CEQA review each time they pass a zoning ordinance or amendment, or to follow the Court of Appeal's decision and evaluate on an ordinance-by-ordinance basis whether the ordinance in question may have a direct or "reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment." (Union of Med. Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of

San Diego (2016) 4 Cal. App. 5th 103, 110.) Muzzy Ranch, Rominger, and Rosenthal, dictate preliminary CEQA review on a categorical basis whenever local governments pass zoning ordinances or amendments, but the decision below creates confusion by suggesting that local governments may decide on a zoning ordinance-by-zoning ordinance basis whether or not the ordinance belongs to a "category" of zoning ordinances which may have reasonable foreseeable environmental impacts.

While California Supreme Court precedent must be obeyed above lower court rulings, the City Attorneys who suggest compliance with CEQA a la Muzzy Ranch, Rominger, and Rosenthal, may find themselves less popular than those who suggest reading Muzzy Ranch narrowly and giving weight instead to a new appellate case that relieves them of their duty to perform such important review.

Even if *Muzzy Ranch* were ambiguous, there would still be a split in the appellate districts. The Court of Appeal opinion goes directly against other California appellate court opinions in *Rosenthal*, and *Rominger*. *Rosenthal* held that adopting a zoning ordinance was a project under *No Oil*, *Inc.*, v. City of Los Angeles (1974) 13 Cal.3d 68. (Rosenthal, v. Bd. of Supervisors, supra, 44 Cal.App.3d at p. 822.) Rominger held that the statutory list of actions contained in Public Resources Code section 21080 (which includes "the enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances") are each categorical projects. (Rominger, v. Cnty. of Colusa, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 702.)

These conflicting appellate court rulings create confusion as to what duties California governments have under CEQA, and the law must be clarified before governments and litigants can know these duties with certainty.

Additionally, while the Court of Appeals does lip service to *Muzzy Ranch* and claims that "the enactment of a law allowing the operation of medical marijuana cooperatives in certain areas of a municipality under certain conditions" is categorically exempt from being considered a project under CEQA because it is not the "type of activity that may cause a reasonably foreseeable change to the environment." The opinion however, only comes to the conclusion that the Ordinance is not a project after a detailed consideration of the Ordinance and factual situation in question which is contrary to this Court's adoption of a categorical approach in *Muzzy Ranch*.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. Factual Background

The City has a complicated history regarding the regulation of medical marijuana. On October 6, 2009 the San Diego City Council voted to initiate a process that culminated in the adoption on March 28, 2011, of an ordinance setting forth a process to permit marijuana facilities (Administrative Record 16). However, a petition was circulated to amend the ordinance

¹ Citations to the Administrative Record will follow the format of AR: Page Number. Thus, citation to page 16 will be AR 16. Further, the Administrative Record will be abbreviated as either "AR" or "Record."

(AR 32). In response, the City Council repealed the ordinance in September, 2011 (AR 32). In a widely-attended, noticed public hearing on April 22, 2013, the City Council directed the Mayor and City Attorney to develop a new ordinance, City of San Diego Ordinance No. O-20356 (the "Ordinance" or "Project"), to allow medical marijuana facilities (AR 16, 231). Thereafter, on December 5, 2013, the Planning Commission held a noticed public hearing to discuss the proposed Ordinance (AR 27). The item lasted two and a half hours, and numerous members of the public attended and spoke (AR 27).

The Ordinance came before the City Council in a noticed public hearing on February 25, 2014 (AR 32). After nearly three hours of discussion, with numerous members of the public providing comments, the City Council voted 8–1 to amend and approve. (AR 31, 32). Final adoption of an ordinance requires a second, noticed public hearing, with public comments, which occurred on March 11, 2014 (AR 43).

The Ordinance made amendments to the City's Land Development Code that will allow medical marijuana facilities to operate in specific commercial and industrial zones (AR 42). The Ordinance authorized the establishment of up to four "Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperatives" ("Coops") per City Council District. (AR 33). In other words, the City authorized up to 36 Coops in the City. (AR 1904.) At the time the Ordinance was adopted, there were approximately 26,451 patients in the City of San Diego. (AR 1661.) Numerous Coops existed in the City at the time the Ordinance was adopted, but the City did not view these Coops as legally established uses. (AR 1660.)

The Ordinance defined a "Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperative" as follows: "[A] facility where marijuana is transferred to qualified patients or primary caregivers in accordance with the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 and the Medical Marijuana Program Act, set forth in California Health and Safety Code sections 11362.5 through 11362.83." (AR 26.)

Because the Ordinance limited the location of Coops to certain zoning districts and mandated buffer zones between residential zones, "sensitive uses" and other Coops, only 30 Coops could actually be established in the City. (AR 1904.) Further, in some City Council Districts it was not possible to site up to four Coops, and in at least one City Council District, no Coops could be established due to the Ordinance's locational restrictions. (AR 255). While there are 8,009 acres in the City that are allowable locations for Coops, due to the Ordinance's buffer zones and other locational requirements, Coops will be concentrated in certain parts of the City. (AR 1660, 254, 257).

The City did not conduct an initial study under CEQA. Rather, the City concluded that the Ordinance was not a project under CEQA, stating:

The ... Ordinance is not subject to [CEQA] pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15060(c)(3), in that it is not a Project as defined by CEQA Guidelines Section 15378. Adoption of the ordinance does not have the potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. Future projects subject to the ordinance will require a discretionary permit and CEQA review, and will be analyzed at the appropriate time in accordance with CEQA.

(AR 28).

Petitioner is a California corporation whose members consist of medical cannabis patient associations, medical cannabis patients and ordinary citizens that would be affected by the Project's environmental impacts. Petitioner's members reside in cities and counties throughout California, including the City of San Diego. (Clerk's Transcript pp. 81-84 [Declaration of James Shaw]; Clerk's Transcript pp. 85–97 [Petitioner's Request for In Camera Review of Declarations in Support of Petitioner's Reply Brief). In order to alert the City of potential resulting environmental impacts of which the City was likely unaware. Petitioner commented on the Ordinance by submitting two lengthy letters to the City and raised each of the legal deficiencies asserted herein. (AR 1658–1733, 1902–1923.) Among other things, Petitioner alerted the City to the fact that the Ordinance would cause: (1) Coops and related activities such as cultivation to either be established in new locations or intensified (i.e. displaced development), (2) patients to drive from where they reside in order to visit a Coop, and (3) patients to cultivate their own medical marijuana. Petitioner highlighted that each of these activates would necessarily create at least some change to the physical environment, and would necessarily create some environmental impacts such as traffic and air pollution, both within and outside the City. (*Ibid.*)

II. Procedural Background

Petitioner filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate on April 29, 2014. (Clerk's Transcript p. 1–11 [Petition for Writ of Mandate].)

The City of San Diego was named as the Respondent and the California Coastal Commission was named as a Real Party in Interest. (Clerk's Transcript p. 1 [Petition for Writ of Mandate].)

On March 6, 2015, the Trial Court conducted a hearing on the Petition for Writ of Mandate. Thereafter, Judge Wohlfeil denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate and judgment was entered on April 22, 2015. (Clerk's Transcript pp. 135–144 [Judgment Denying Petition for Writ of Mandate].) Judge Wohlfeil held that Petitioner had standing to prosecute the appeal, but sustained the City's argument that the Ordinance was not a project under CEQA. (Clerk's Transcript pp. 107–111 [Minute Order].) Judge Wohlfeil declined to address the argument raised by Real Party in Interest California Coastal Commission ("Real Party") that it was improperly named in this lawsuit as a party, because he denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate on substantive grounds. (*Ibid.*) On May 1, 2015, Respondent filed a Notice of Entry of Judgment (Clerk's Transcript pp. 145–157.)

On May 18, 2015, Petitioner filed its notice of appeal regarding the denial of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, and on October 14, 2016 the Fourth Appellate District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's judgment. (Clerk's Transcript pp. 156–159 [Notice of Appeal]; Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District Judgment).

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. This Court Should Grant Review to Clarify Whether the Enactment or Amendment of a Zoning Ordinance is Categorically a "Project" under CEQA.

The Fourth Appellate District announced an approach to project analysis under CEQA that conflicts with this Court's precedents, conflicts with other California appellate court precedents, and will cause confusion among state courts. The Court of Appeal applied California law in a way contrary to existing California Supreme Court and California appellate court precedent. The law misapplied is vital to the functioning of CEQA - it tells us which activities are regulated. Here we have the proto-typical CEQA regulated land use activity taken on by governments in California, passing or amending a zoning ordinance. To have confusion over whether zoning ordinances must undergo CEQA review, is to have confusion in every city council chamber and board of supervisors meeting room in the state. Resolving this question, on the other hand, will dispose of the need to argue whether a given zoning ordinance will cause "a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment." The answer, under Muzzy Ranch, is "yes".

In Muzzy Ranch Co., v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission, the Supreme Court clearly held that "[w]hether an activity constitutes a project subject to CEQA is a categorical question respecting whether the activity is of a general kind with which CEQA is concerned, without regard to whether the activity will actually have environmental impact" (Muzzy Ranch Co., v.

Solano Cnty. Airport Land Use Comm'n, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 381 (emphasis added).) The court in Muzzy goes into the categorical analysis by asking whether a purported project "is the sort of activity that may cause a direct change or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment so as to constitute a project." (*Ibid.*, citing Pub. Resources Code, § 21065.) In Muzzy Ranch, the court held that an ordinance adopting a land use plan was a categorical project. (Muzzy Ranch Co., v. Solano Cnty. Airport Land Use Comm'n, supra, at p. 381.) Likewise, we argue that an amendment to a zoning plan is a categorical project because it "is the sort of activity that may cause a direct change or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment..." (*Ibid.*) This categorical approach makes sense, since the decision to undertake environmental review should be made early in the process, and sometimes reveals foreseeable impacts which were not foreseen at the time the government was deciding whether to undertake CEQA review. The statute, as read by Muzzy Ranch and the sources cited below, stated simply, says if an activity is of the type that usually results in environmental impacts, the government must do the analysis, even if it cannot see the impacts yet. If, after preliminary analysis, the city decides there will be no significant impacts or that a Categorical Exemption applies, the city can issue a Negative Declaration or officially find that the project is exempt. But whenever a city passes a zoning ordinance, it must do a preliminary CEQA analysis.

Indeed, the Appellate Court split is so sudden and deep that Petitioner believed the law on this subject to be well established. Rosenthal v. Board of Supervisors held that zoning ordinances

are projects under CEQA after a thorough review of California Supreme Court precedent, and no analysis of the specific potential environmental impacts of the ordinance in question. (Rosenthal, v. Bd. of Supervisors, supra, 44 Cal.App.3d at pp. 822–823 (analyzing No Oil, Inc., v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 13 Cal.3d 68 and Bozung v. Local Agency Formation, Comm'n (1975) 13 Cal.3d 263.) Likewise, Concerned Citizens of Palm Desert v. Board of Supervisors held that CEQA "makes it clear that it applies to 'the enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances." (Concerned Citizens of Palm Desert v. Bd. of Supervisors (1974) 38 Cal.App.3d 272, 283, quoting Pub. Resources Code, § 21080.) The office of the Attorney General has also opined that "Ordinances and resolutions adopted by a local agency are 'projects' within the meaning of CEQA." (60 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 335 (1977)._

More recently, in Rominger v. County of Colusa the court reads Public Resources Code section 21080 to set out a non-exhaustive list of categorical projects under CEQA. (Rominger, v. Cnty. of Colusa, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 702.) This is the plainest reading of the statutory language which says "[CEQA] shall apply to discretionary projects proposed to be carried out or approved by public agencies, including, but not limited to, the enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances..." (Pub. Resources Code, § 201080.) The statute says it applies to discretionary projects, and gives a non-exhaustive list of what it means by "discretionary projects." As we know from Muzzy, whether something is a project under CEQA is a "categorical" question. Public Resources Code section 201080 gives us a statutory set of categories of projects.

However, the appellate court below disagreed with our analysis and has now created a split among the California appellate courts as to whether projects are to be determined on a categorical basis, or whether activities that would constitute "projects" under the statute are no longer considered "projects" if they do not cause a "direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment." (Pub. Resources Code, § 21065.) While that is part of the statutory definition of "project," the statute sets out activities which categorically constitute projects, as Muzzy explains. Simply put, the statute sets out a broad definition, and later sets out some specific examples of projects, all of which meet the first definition because they usually cause direct or "reasonably foreseeably indirect physical change in the environment." (See Pub. Resources Code, § 21065, and § 21080.) If the statute sets out a categorical list of "projects" it makes no sense to subject those enumerated projects to a case-by-case test found in the general definition of "project."

While *Muzzy*'s categorical approach takes into account the "reasonably foreseeable impacts" element of the statute by creating categories of activities which have "reasonably foreseeable impacts," the Court of Appeal's decision would only apply *Muzzy*'s categorical approach to the question of whether or not something is a "discretionary action" by the agency, since the "reasonably foreseeable impacts" element of whether something is a project would be analyzed independently. It is completely irreconcilable with the California Supreme Court precedent that "[w]hether an *activity* constitutes a *project* subject to CEQA is a categorical question respecting whether the activity is of a

general kind which with CEQA is concerned, without regard to whether the activity will actually have environmental impact." (Muzzy Ranch Co., v. Solano Cnty. Airport Land Use Comm'n, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 281. (emphasis added).)

The court below analyzed the statutory language and concluded it could be read in one of two ways: zoning ordinances may be projects as a matter of law, or they may also have to meet the "reasonably foreseeable impacts" standard. However, in deciding between the two interpretations, the court relied on the CEQA Guidelines rather than the binding California Supreme Court Precedent in Muzzy, and even the CEQA Guidelines are ambiguous. The section of the CEQA Guidelines quoted states that a "project" is an action "which has a potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment, and that is any of the following . . . enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances . . . "The CEQA Guidelines are just as amenable to a categorical reading as the statute: zoning ordinances have "the potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change of the environment," as a categorical matter. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 15378.)

The primary appellate case relied on by the Court of Appeal was Walmart, but in the Court of Appeal's opinion, they admitted that the court in Walmart "did not need to resolve whether 'subdivision (a) of section 21080 establishes a bright-line rule of law that all enactments of zoning ordinances are discretionary projects regardless of whether all of the requisite elements contained in section 21065's definition of a 'project have been

met." 117 (citing Wal Mart 138 Cal. App. 4th at 289.) That is to say, the Court of Appeal admitted that Wal-Mart was inapposite.

The one concession in the Court of Appeal's opinion to Muzzy's binding injunction to take a categorical approach is a vague statement that "to the extent possible, we examine generally whether the enactment of a law allowing the operation of medical marijuana cooperatives in certain areas of a municipality under certain conditions is the type of activity that may cause a reasonably foreseeable change to the environment." (Ibid.) Muzzy Ranch however, does not analyze how land use plans that preserves existing development levels near an air force base may affect the environment (the precise issue in Muzzy Ranch), but how a land use plan generally may affect the environment. (Id. at pp. 254–55.) Creating such finite, specific categories, completely negates any benefits that taking a categorical approach may yield in terms of simplifying legal analysis, creating uniformity in lower court decisions, or providing clarity to governments looking to comply with CEQA. Under the Court of Appeal's rule, governments must decide whether a zoning ordinance is a project based on the places, uses, and conditions regulated.

II. This Court Should Grant Review to Clarify That Enactment of a Zoning Ordinance Regulating Cannabis Production and Sale is Categorically a "Project" under CEQA.

In addition to misapplying the relevant law with regard to whether zoning ordinances and amendments to zoning ordinances are categorically projects under CEQA, as discussed above, the Court of Appeal came to the erroneous conclusion that a "the enactment of a law allowing the operation of medical marijuana cooperatives in certain areas of a municipality under certain conditions is [not] the type of activity that may cause a reasonably foreseeable change to the environment." (Union of Med. Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of San Diego, supra, 4 Cal. App. 5th at p. 120.) Petitioner identified several potential areas of foreseeable environmental impacts, and the Court of Appeal analyzed each of these arguments and concluded that there would be no such environmental impacts in this case.

(Ibid.) However, under the Court of Appeal's own admission, under Muzzy it was required to analyze the ordinance on a categorical basis, and not on an as-applied basis. That is not what the Court of Appeal did.

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