S _____

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

UNION OF MEDICAL
MARIJUANA PATIENTS,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SAN DIEGO,

Defendant and Respondent,

CALIFORNIA COASTAL
COMMISSION,

Real Party in Interest,

) **Fourth District Court of Appeal,**
) **Division One Case No. D068185**

) San Diego Superior Court
) Case No. 37-2014-00013481-
) CU-TT-CTL

**SUPREME COURT
FILED**

DEC 13 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jan I. Goldsmith, City Attorney
Glenn T. Spitzer, Deputy City Attorney
California State Bar No. 218664

Office of the City Attorney
1200 Third Avenue, Suite 1620
San Diego, California 92101-4178
Telephone: (619) 236-6220

INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case is whether the City of San Diego's (City) enactment of ordinance O-20356 (Ordinance), which establishes a permitting process for medical marijuana facilities, constitutes a "project" as that term is defined in the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in favor of the City after determining that the Ordinance is not a project because the activity did not "cause either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment[.]" Public Resources Code section 21065.

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeal decision creates a conflict in the law because other authority holds an enactment of a zoning ordinance is a "project" regardless of whether the activity meets the definition of "project" in Public Resources Code section 21065. Petitioner is incorrect; there is no legal authority for the proposition that the enactment of a zoning ordinance is *per se* a "project." Accordingly, the Supreme Court should deny the petition.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **The City Council's Adoption of the Ordinance and its CEQA Determination**

The Ordinance came before City Council for a first reading on February 25, 2014, and a second reading on March 11, 2014. (AR 32:472; AR 36.) Prior to the adoption of the Ordinance, medical marijuana facilities were not allowed in the City.

The Ordinance makes amendments to the City's Land Development Code that will allow "medical marijuana consumer cooperatives" to operate

in specified commercial and industrial zones with a Conditional Use Permit. (AR 42:682.) Medical marijuana consumer cooperatives are defined as “a facility where marijuana is transferred to qualified patients or primary caregivers in accordance with the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 and the Medical Marijuana Program Act, set forth in California Health and Safety Code section 11362.5 through 11362.83.” (AR 4:44-45.)

“The intent of the Ordinance is to regulate commercial retail type facilities.” (AR 42:682.) Under the Ordinance, “[t]here may not be more than four medical marijuana consumer cooperatives per City Council District.” (AR 42:682.)

Prior to adoption, the City made the following CEQA determination:

The ... Ordinance is not subject to [CEQA] pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15060(c)(3), in that it is not a Project as defined by CEQA Guidelines Section 15378. Adoption of the ordinance does not have the potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. Future projects subject to the ordinance will require a discretionary permit and CEQA review, and will be analyzed at the appropriate time in accordance with CEQA. (AR 28:439.)

B. The Lower Court Rulings

On March 9, 2015, Judge Joel R. Wohlfeil issued a ruling denying the Petition on the grounds that there was no evidence in the administrative record that would support the existence of a “reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment” per Public Resources Code section 21065. (CT 110, first para.) On May 1, 2015, the City filed a Notice of Entry of Judgment (CT 145-157.) On May 18, 2015, Petitioner filed its notice of appeal. (CT 158-159.)

In an opinion filed October 14, 2016, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, affirmed the judgment in favor of the City. The Court of Appeal analyzed the “project” issue under Public Resources Code section 21065 and CEQA Guidelines, section 15378, and found the enactment of the Ordinance did not constitute a “project” because there was no evidence in the administrative record to support a finding that the activity may cause a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. The Court of Appeal found that all the changes alleged and argued by Petitioner were speculative. The Court of Appeal also analyzed and rejected Petitioner’s argument that Public Resources Code section 21080(a) makes the enactment of a zoning ordinance subject to CEQA regardless of whether the activity meets the definition of “project” under section 21065.

III.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Supreme Court review of a court of appeal decision is appropriate “[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law.” Cal. Rules of Court 8.500(b)(1).

IV.

LEGAL ARGUMENT: SUPREME COURT REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE THERE IS NO CONFLICTING AUTHORITY HOLDING THE ENACTMENT OF A ZONING ORDINANCE IS *PER SE* A “PROJECT” UNDER CEQA.

A. CEQA Applies Only To “Projects”: Activities That May Cause A Direct Or Reasonably Foreseeable Indirect Physical Change In The Environment; CEQA Does Not Apply Where Impacts Are Speculative.

The issue in this case is whether the Ordinance qualifies as a “project” under CEQA. In 1994, following the decision *Kaufman & Broad-South Bay, Inc. v. Morgan Hill USD* (1992) 9 Cal. App. 4th 464, the

Legislature amended the CEQA definition of “project” so that CEQA applies only to “an activity which may cause either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment[.]” Pub. Res. Code § 21065 (*see also* Historical and Statutory Notes).¹ “An activity that is not a “project” as defined by the Public Resources Code (see § 21065) and the CEQA Guidelines (see § 15378) is not subject to CEQA. (CEQA Guidelines, §15060(c)(3).)” *Chung v. City of Monterey Park* (2012) 210 Cal. App. 4th 394, 401-02 (emphasis added) (*quoting Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Com.* (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 372, 380).

Petitioner argues only the existence of indirect physical changes. “An indirect physical change in the environment is a physical change in the environment which is not immediately related to the project, but which is caused indirectly by the project.” (CEQA Guidelines, § 15064(d)(2).) “An indirect physical change is to be considered only if that change is a reasonably foreseeable impact which may be caused by the project. A change which is speculative or unlikely to occur is not reasonably foreseeable.” (CEQA Guidelines, § 15064(d)(3).) “The question whether alleged physical changes are reasonably foreseeable requires an examination of the evidence presented in the administrative record.” *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 138 Cal. App. 4th at 291.

B. CEQA Should Occur When There Is Meaningful Information To Assess.

A related issue under CEQA is timing. “Choosing the precise time for CEQA compliance involves a balancing of competing factors.” *See*

¹ Prior to the *Kaufman* decision, the “direct ... or ... reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change” requirement was in the CEQA Guidelines (section 15378), but not in the Public Resources Code.

CEQA Guidelines, § 15004(b). Environmental documents should be prepared as early as feasible “yet late enough to provide meaningful information for environmental assessment.” *Ibid.*

Friends of the Sierra Railroad, 147 Cal. App. 4th 643, is instructive. In that case, the petitioner challenged the district’s sale of land containing a historic railroad, arguing it was reasonably foreseeable that the sale would result in development of the property and resultant impact on the historical resource. The court agreed that development was reasonably foreseeable and that the development could impact the historical resource. *Id.* at 656. Notwithstanding, the court held the approval of the sale was not a “project” as defined by CEQA because a meaningful CEQA review was not yet possible. *Id.* at 657. The court reasoned:

In spite of these possibilities, we conclude that this case more closely resembles those prior cases in which no CEQA project was found or where CEQA review was premature than those in which there was a project or review was not premature. The reasonably foreseeable likelihood of some development on the [] property, combined with the possibility that the development could impact the historical resource included within the larger property, does not trigger CEQA review. CEQA review has to happen far enough down the road toward an environmental impact to allow meaningful consideration in the review process of alternatives that could mitigate the impact. *Ibid.*, footnote omitted (emphasis added).

C. The City Complied With CEQA.

Consistent with the above statutory and case law authority, the City determined the Ordinance is not a “project” because it will not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. (AR 28:439.) The Ordinance amends the City’s Land Development Code to allow qualifying medical marijuana facilities in certain commercial and industrial zones within the City. The City created a

discretionary process for the issuance of permits under the Ordinance, which means CEQA review must be performed before the issuance of any individual permit. (AR 28:439.)

D. There Is No Case Holding the Enactment of a Zoning Ordinance is *Per Se* a “Project” under CEQA.

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeal decision is inconsistent with this Court’s decision in *Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use Commission*, (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 372 (“*Muzzy Ranch*”) and Public Resources Code section 21080(a). Petitioner relies heavily on the language in *Muzzy Ranch*: “[w]hether an activity constitutes a project subject to CEQA is a *categorical question* respecting whether the activity is of a general kind with which CEQA is concerned, without regard to whether the activity will actually have environmental impact.” *Muzzy Ranch*, 41 Cal. 4th at p. 381 (emphasis added). Petitioner argues that this language supports its argument that certain categories of activities are *per se* subject to CEQA regardless of whether they will cause actual foreseeable changes to the environment. Petitioner relies on this language in conjunction with Public Resources Code section 21080 to argue that the activities referenced in section 21080 are *per se* subject to CEQA.

This is an incorrect reading of *Muzzy Ranch*. In *Muzzy Ranch*, the Supreme Court did not hold that certain activities are subject to CEQA regardless of whether the activities meet the causation element of section 21065. In fact, the Court analyzed the causation element of section 21065 at length before finding that the adoption of the planning document at issue qualified as a “project.” Moreover, the Court did not address—or even reference—section 21080.

Under section 21065, an activity must meet both the categorical element and the causation element. Namely, it must be the *type* of activity

that is subject to CEQA, and it must be an activity that may cause a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change on the environment. This is consistent with *Muzzy Ranch*. It is incorrect to read *Muzzy Ranch* as eliminating the causation element for certain activities.

The causation element goes to the very purpose of CEQA. The primary goals of CEQA are to identify an activity's environmental impacts, and to lessen those impacts with the adoption of feasible mitigation measures and project alternatives. Pub. Res. Code § 21002. These are the very issues addressed in an environmental impact report. However, if an agency is unable to identify a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect environmental change, then it cannot possibly assess or mitigate an impact through the CEQA process.

There is no question that the enactment of a zoning ordinance is the type of activity that CEQA regulates. CEQA Guidelines, § 15378(a)(1). However, the activity at issue in this case was not subject to CEQA because it was not an activity that may result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change to the environment. CEQA Guidelines, § 15378(a).

There are no cases that hold the enactment of a zoning ordinance is *per se* a "project" under CEQA. *Muzzy Ranch* did not address zoning ordinances. Petitioner also cites to *Rosenthal v. Board of Supervisors* (1975) 44 Cal. App. 3d 815, but that case does not stand for the proposition that the enactment of a zoning ordinance is *per se* a "project." Moreover, that case was decided prior to the 1994 amendment of section 21065 to include the causation element.

Petitioner also cites to *Rominger v. County of Colusa*, (2014) 229 Cal. App. 4th 690. However, that case does not address the enactment of a zoning ordinance. Instead, the case addresses the approval of a subdivision map.

The only case that addresses the issue of whether the enactment of a zoning ordinance is *per se* subject to CEQA under section 21080 is *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. City of Turlock* (2006) 138 Cal. App. 4th 273 (disapproved on other grounds in *Hernandez v. City of Hanford* (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 279). That court analyzed the statutory construction issue as follows:

Sections 21065 and 21080 could be construed to mean that the enactment of a zoning ordinance is not automatically a project and will not be a project unless all of the essential elements for a project contained in section 21065 are met. Under this view, the qualifying language at the beginning of subdivision (a) of section 21080, which states that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided in [CEQA],” would be construed to mean that all of the essential elements for a project contained in section 21065 are “otherwise provided in [CEQA]” and are not eliminated by the language in section 21080 that states discretionary projects include the enactment of zoning ordinances. If such a construction were adopted, courts could not presume that the enactment of a zoning ordinance “may cause ... a ... physical change in the environment” (§ 21065), but would have to review the administrative record for evidence establishing both the requisite causal link as well as the requisite physical change in the environment. Under this construction, the main significance of subdivision (a) of section 21080 would be limiting the applicability of CEQA to *discretionary* projects.

This issue of statutory construction has not been raised in a published appellate opinion or in two widely used CEQA treatises. (See 1 Kostka & Zischke, *Practice Under the Cal. Environmental Quality Act* (Cont.Ed.Bar 2005) § 4.21, pp. 172–173; see Remy, *supra*, at p. 78 [“The

following are all ‘projects’ subject to CEQA: [¶] ... [¶] (3) the enactment and amendment of zoning ordinances”].) The Guidelines, however, have melded the provisions of subdivision (a) of section 21080 into the definition of “project” (see Guidelines, § 15378, subd. (a)(1)) and, thus, appear to have rejected by implication a bright-line rule that all zoning amendments are projects.

Id. at 286, fn. 7. Thus, the *Walmart* case analyzed the issue consistent with the Fourth District's decision here.

V.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, review is not appropriate under California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1). Accordingly, the City respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny the Petition.